FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/21/2025 4:34 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No.					

Case #: 1044861

[Court of Appeals No. 60179-6-II]

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, et al.,

Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

I. INTRODUCTION

In *State v. Howard*, this Court recognized "[t]he expenses of providing for an indigent's defense are a necessary expense of charging a crime, and the ability to shift responsibility for these expenses to another level of government camouflages the true costs of the decision." 106 Wn.2d 39, 44 (1985). Counties seek to do exactly this, shifting their public defense costs to the State, thereby forcing Washington's taxpayers to pay for public defense outside their own county limits.

Instead of invoking their own rights in this effort, Counties instead assert the rights of the indigent defendants they prosecute—the rights to counsel, due process, and equal protection. But those personal rights of defendants cannot be asserted by their prosecutors.

The trial court correctly dismissed this lawsuit for lack of standing. The Court of Appeals reversed, creating a broad new standing theory in conflict with multiple decisions of this Court and every division of the Court of Appeals.

First, it allows Counties to bring claims this Court holds cannot be asserted by local governments, despite a clear conflict of interest with the actual rightsholders—the criminal defendants they prosecute. The Court of Appeals relied on two of this Court's decisions, *City of Seattle v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 663 (1985), and *Seattle School District No. 1 v. State*, 90 Wn.2d 476 (1978), but ignores both the unique facts of those cases, and the subsequent decisions of this Court and all three Courts of Appeals Divisions limiting their reach.

Second, the decision below contorts standing doctrine when there is no need to do so. Counties have their own rights. And indigent defendants, with the help of pro bono counsel, have repeatedly brought claims against governments in Washington for inadequate public defense—including in *Davison v. State*, 196 Wn.2d 285 (2020), this case's precursor. In fact, Yakima County—a plaintiff here—is currently facing just such a lawsuit, where it is currently denying the existence of a public defense crisis. This Court should grant review and reverse so that those

who actually need indigent defense counsel can control their own right to counsel claims, rather than seeing those claims and potential resolutions controlled by their prosecutors.

This Court should grant review and reverse.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the State of Washington, respondent and defendant below.

III. DECISION BELOW

The July 22, 2025 Court of Appeals opinion is published, and attached hereto as Appendix A. *Wash. State Ass'n of Ctys. v. State*, No. 60179-6-II, 2025 WL 2048214 (Wash. Ct. App. July 22, 2025) (hereinafter COA.Op.).

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Counties lack standing to challenge the constitutionality of Washington's public defense funding system based on indigent defendants' constitutional rights to counsel, due process, and equal protection.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

One day after the Davison class of indigent defendants dismissed their right to counsel case against the State, Counties filed this suit, alleging essentially the same violations. CP30-37. Although Counties never alleged they were providing inadequate public defense to any defendant, they claimed the State had a duty to fund their public defense systems. Based solely on alleged violations of the individual rights to counsel, due process, and equal protection, Counties sought (i) a declaration that "the existing trial court indigent defense system is unconstitutional" and the State is required to "establish a state-funded system of trial court indigent defense"; and (ii) an injunction "requiring the [S]tate to provide stable, dependable, and regular State funding." Id.

The State moved to dismiss. CP40-66. The trial court granted the motion, finding Counties were not within the "zone of interests" of these individual constitutional rights, rejecting the Counties' argument that *Seattle School District No. 1 v. State*,

90 Wn.2d 476 (1978), and *Davison* compelled different results, also declining to apply the "public importance" exception to standing, citing several cases where "[c]lass actions of indigent criminal defendants can and have asserted their own constitutional rights." CP1035-37.

Counties sought direct review and this Court declined, sending the case to the Court of Appeals, Division II.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal, holding that Counties had standing to bring the claims of indigent criminal defendants.

The Court of Appeals recognized that Counties did not themselves possess any rights under the equal protection or right to counsel provisions in the Washington or U.S. Constitutions;¹ it nonetheless found Counties were within the "zone of interests"

¹ The Court of Appeals did not speak to Counties' ability to assert due process violations, despite ultimately ruling they could proceed with those claims.

of these rights based on its readings of *City of Seattle* and *Seattle School District*. COA.Op.14-23.

The Court of Appeals likewise held Counties' alleged budgetary harms demonstrated "injury in fact" for their constitutional claims, even though Counties did not allege "actual deprivations of the right to counsel, due process, or equal protection," or plead "any particular county was 'currently unable to provide public defense services because of a lack of state funding or delegated taxing authority." COA.Op.23-25.

Finally, the Court of Appeals determined the "public importance" standing exception allowed this case to proceed without the participation of any indigent defendants, reasoning that the "funding disparities among the counties, as pled in the complaint, exacerbate the hardships experienced by indigent defendants and the decline of our criminal justice system." COA.Op.25-27.

The State timely sought review.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Review Is Warranted Because the Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with Decisions From This Court

Contrary to decades of precedent from this Court, the decision below allows political subdivisions to borrow constitutional rights of others to pursue their own interests. Worse, it allows them to proceed without the actual rightsholders, even when, as here, their interests may differ substantially.

In allowing Counties to bring claims under the right to counsel, due process, and equal protection, the decision below rejects clear precedent from this Court. It compounds the conflict by misapplying and expanding *City of Seattle* and *Seattle School District*, notwithstanding this Court's prior warnings.

1. This Court's decisions foreclose due process, equal protection, and right to counsel claims by political subdivisions

This Court has repeatedly, and categorically, held that governmental entities "do not have rights under the equal protection or due process clauses of the state and federal

constitutions." Lakehaven Water & Sewer Dist. v. City of Federal Way, 195 Wn.2d 742, 770 (2020). Put simply, "political subdivisions cannot invoke protections of the Fourteenth Amendment against a state." Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Ecology, 147 Wn.2d 440, 463 (2002) (citing City of Newark v. New Jersey, 262 U.S. 192 (1923)).

As to due process, in *Lakehaven*, when water and sewer districts attempted to bring a due process claim, this Court wasted little time reaffirming the longstanding rule that political subdivisions cannot "bring due process claims." 195 Wn.2d at 769. This decision echoed a long line of cases from this Court similarly holding due process claims brought by governmental entities categorically fail for lack of standing. *See, e.g., Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 804 (2004) (fire districts lacked standing to bring due process claims against city's annexation powers); *Samuel's Furniture*, 147 Wn.2d at 463 (dismissing due process claim because "the due process clause does not protect government

entities from state action"); Moses Lake Sch. Dist. No. 161 v. Big Bend Cmty. Coll., 81 Wn.2d 551, 557-58 (1972) (rejecting due process challenge against state by local school district); see also Wash. State Ass'n of Ctys. v. State, 199 Wn.2d 1, 19 (2022) (recognizing due process clauses are "constitutional protections that have never been applied to subdivisions of the State"). The decision below fails to address this Court's due process holdings in any of these cases.

Same for equal protection claims. The general rule from the U.S. Supreme Court, adopted by this Court, is that Counties cannot bring equal protection claims, as they lack any rights under the federal or state equal protection clauses. In *Grant County*, for instance, this Court forbid political subdivisions (there, fire districts) from bringing equal protection claims, finding they were not within the "zone of interests" of the protections of article I section 12, 150 Wn.2d at 803. This ruling echoed numerous federal and state decisions prohibiting counties from suing the state over equal protection guarantees.

See Newark, 262 U.S. at 196 (city cannot invoke Fourteenth Amendment to assert equal protection claim against the State); Lakehaven, 195 Wn.2d at 770 (citing Newark approvingly and concluding "municipal corporations do not have rights under the equal protection or due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions"); Samuel's Furniture, 147 Wn.2d at 463 (similar). Again, the Court of Appeals seemingly rejects this precedent by concluding Counties are within the "zone of interests" of both federal and state equal protection guarantees. COA.Op.16-17.

Finally, in permitting Counties to proceed with the same right to counsel claims asserted by the Davison plaintiffs (minus the allegations of actual constitutional deprivations), the opinion below upends direction from this Court holding the rights in article I, section 22 (including the right to counsel) are "personally held" and cannot be asserted by others. State v. Rafay, 167 Wn.2d 644, 650 (2009). This ruling comports with the overwhelming weight of federal authority that prohibits right to counsel claims brought by third parties. See, e.g., Texas v.

Cobb, 532 U.S. 162, 169 n.2 (2001) ("The Sixth Amendment right to counsel is personal to the defendant and specific to the offense"); United States v. Thomas, 872 F.2d 431, 3 (9th Cir. 1989) ("A defendant's right to counsel is personal... and cannot be vicariously asserted by a co-defendant."). To counsel's knowledge, no Washington or federal court has ever found standing for a political subdivision to bring a right to counsel claim.² The Court of Appeals ruling deviates from precedent limiting the right to counsel to the accused.

2. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decisions limiting the ability of parties, including counties, to bring claims based on the rights of others

More generally, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with several decisions of this Court preventing litigants from bringing lawsuits based on constitutional claims of others.

² The only exception was *State v. Quitman County*, based on Mississippi's "quite liberal" and "permissive" standing laws that have no "zone of interests" test. 807 So.2d 401, 410 (Miss. 2001). As noted below, this case proved ruinous for Mississippi's indigent defendants.

For example, in Kitsap County v. City of Bremerton, 46 Wn.2d 362 (1955), a county sought to invalidate a statute requiring it, rather than cities, to pay for the salaries of judges. Kitsap County argued, like Counties here, that they had standing to bring their constitutional claim because the statute "will result in large and unnecessary expenses to the plaintiff." Id at 363. This Court nonetheless found standing lacking, explaining that "the fact that the legislature has directed the county to pay an increased salary to a justice of the peace affords no basis for an attack on the constitutionality of [the statute]." Id. at 366. In dismissing Kitsap County's claim, this Court made clear: "[i]t is elementary that one attacking the validity of an act must show that its enforcement operates as an infringement on the complaining party's constitutional rights." *Id*.

The decision below ignores *Kitsap County*. Attempting to sidestep this "elementary" principle, the Court of Appeals' opinion dramatically expands the "public importance" standing doctrine, in conflict with this Court's decisions. While the Court

of Appeals recognized that indigent defendants "could" bring their own systemic right to counsel claims, COA.Op.25, it nevertheless determined that public interest standing was appropriate because issues of public defense funding "thus far, have escaped review." *Id*.

That is both legally and factually incorrect. This Court has limited public interest standing to cases where "the liberal approach was *necessary* to ensure that the important public issues raised did not escape review." *Grant Cnty.*, 150 Wn.2d at 803 (citing *Yakima Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 12 v. City of Yakima*, 122 Wn.2d 371, 380 (1993)). Indeed, in *Lakehaven*, *Grant County*, and *Yakima County*, this Court denied "public importance standing" for governmental entities that otherwise lacked standing, reasoning that the arguments raised by the political subdivisions could be more effectively argued by other plaintiffs, and thus was not "necessary." *Id.*; *Lakehaven*, 195 Wn.2d at 771-72; *Yakima Cnty.*, 122 Wn.2d at 380.

The Court of Appeals starts its decision acknowledging this limitation, but then deviates and employs its own simplified test. COA.Op.11-12, 24-25. Specifically, the Court of Appeals did not find Counties' case was "necessary" to address systemic violations of indigent defendants' right to counsel. Nor did it reverse Judge Zipp's finding to the contrary: that indigent defendants are capable of bringing their own case, as they "can and have" brought suits here and elsewhere. CP1037.

Instead of analyzing this mandatory factor and addressing the State's argument on why this issue is unlikely to escape review, the Court of Appeals summarily concluded that "any improvement is unlikely without some sort of change." COA.Op.25-27. But it cites no evidence that shifting the cost of public defense to the State will solve any aspect of the nationwide public defense challenges that are also affecting parts of Washington. While frustration with the state of public defense funding in some counties is understandable, it is not enough to bypass the "necessary" standing test this Court created.

Finally, the decision below warrants review because it incorrectly absolved Counties of the requirement to allege the constitutional violations underpinning their claims. Although presented as a case premised solely on violations of the rights of indigent defendants, Counties fail to allege that any such rights are actually being violated, focusing instead on budgetary harms. CP 30-37. Indeed, in the current right-to-counsel class action against plaintiff Yakima County, Al-Tharwa v. Yakima County, No. 25-2-00718-39 (Yakima Cnty. Super. Ct.), Yakima County disclaimed any current public defense crisis within its borders, calling previous allegations a "receding crisis" where "the apex of that crisis has long since passed," in significant tension with their claims here. See Resp'ts Resp. Appellants' Statement Additional Authority, No. 60179-6, at 2-3 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. II July 12, 2025).

The Court of Appeals recognized that Counties did not plead any deprivation of *any* indigent defendants' rights, but nonetheless found they had sufficiently plead injury-in-fact

based solely on the financial barriers Counties allegedly face in funding indigent defense. COA.Op.23-25.

For claims supposedly based on due process, equal protection, and right to counsel, this puts the cart before the horse. As this Court held in *Davison*, a claim against the State must allege and prove a lack of "constitutionally adequate" results. *Davison*, 196 Wn.2d at 289, 300. But Counties make no such allegations. See CP18-20. The Court of Appeals erred in allowing Counties to skip this critical step.

3. The Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with this Court's application of *City of Seattle* and *Seattle School District*

a. City of Seattle v. State

In rejecting both longstanding and recent doctrine prohibiting counties from raising equal protection claims on their own, the Court of Appeals cites the only decision, from nearly 50 years ago, where this Court allowed a city to assert an equal protection claim. *City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d at 668-69. There, this Court allowed a city to assert an equal protection claim on

behalf of its residents in an area proposed for annexation, even though the city itself had no rights under the equal protection clause of the state or federal constitutions. *Id.* This Court did so focusing on the unique circumstances concerning voting rights of property owners, and the ability of the City to represent their interests. *Id.* (recognizing standing because "in cases involving the right to vote, the courts have also expressed a concern as to the effects of the denial of the right to vote on the integrity of the democratic process" and because the city "has a duty to represent the interests of area residents, as well as its own interests in further proceedings").

As the State has repeatedly noted, this Court has narrowed City of Seattle in the decades since its issuance, finding it to be a "public importance" or "liberal" standing case justified by the specific circumstances at issue there—the voting rights of property owners—as one of the few areas where interests of a political subdivision completely overlapped with those of the actual rightsholders. See Yakima Cnty., 122 Wn.2d at 380 (citing

City of Seattle as a case where the "liberal" standing theory was applied and was "necessary to assure that the important public issues raised in those cases did not escape review"). This Court has declined to extend City of Seattle outside of the voting rights context, where rightsholders were able and better positioned to bring their own claims, as the indigent defendants are here. Id.

The decision below ignores this Court's decision in Yakima County. Instead, it reads City of Seattle as creating a "zone of interests" standing test for equal protection claims that can seemingly be met without any form of representative standing (as Counties do not, and cannot, make any claim they represent indigent defendants' interests). It places Counties within the "zone of interests" of equal protection guarantees due to their "governmental interests" in the "legitimacy of the criminal legal system." COA.Op.25. This language, which would seemingly create unlimited standing for nearly any county to sue under any right for any issue touching the "criminal legal

system," appears nowhere in *City of Seattle*, nor in any other standing case cited.

But, unlike in City of Seattle, Counties' interests in the criminal legal system are not the same as those of indigent defendants. One reason our State has always placed the cost of indigent defense at the county level is so that the same level of government making decisions about which crimes to prosecute (Counties) should bear the cost of those decisions. See Howard, 106 Wn.2d at 44; see also Thurston County ex rel. Snaza v. City of Olympia, 193 Wn.2d 102, 105 (2019) (counties "are burdened with the cost of administering the criminal laws within their boundaries and, in the absence of statutory authority, are not entitled to reimbursement from the State."); Kitsap County v. *Moore*, 144 Wn.2d 292, 297 (2001) (county, not State, must pay costs of indigent appeal of decisions of courts of limited jurisdiction to superior courts). Letting Counties proceed with their effort to radically reshape the public defense landscape without the input of indigent defendants or public defenders thus

flies in the face of the narrow rationale of *City of Seattle*, where this Court said the interests of individuals and the city were perfectly aligned.

b. Seattle School District v. State

In Seattle School District v. State, this Court allowed the School District to proceed with a claim under article IX, section 1, because of a confluence of unique circumstances not present here. In particular, that case also included student and parent coplaintiffs, and the case involved the State's "paramount duty" to fund education under the Washington Constitution. 90 Wn.2d at 490-91, 499-500. This Court has repeatedly declined to extend Seattle School District to other contexts, yet the Court of Appeals here decided to "exten[d] . . . Seattle School District's rationale to this case." COA.Op.21. The rationales that the Court of Appeals offered for doing so ignore this Court's precedent.

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