# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2025 3:39 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1044861

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# WASHINGTON STATE ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, et al.,

Respondents,

v.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul J. Lawrence, WSBA #13557
Ian D. Rogers, WSBA #46584
Sarah S. Washburn, WSBA #44418
Christopher M. Sanders, WSBA #47518
PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP
401 Union Street, Suite 1600
Seattle, WA 98101-2668
(206) 245-1700
Attorneys for Respondents

#### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

This Court will "only" accept a petition for review that meets the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The State fails to identify which parts of the RAP apply, but appears to argue the Opinion is "in conflict with" decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, and involves "a significant question of law" under the U.S. or Washington Constitutions.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion, however, is consistent with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, as well as the constitutional guarantees at issue. Granting review would only delay resolution of the undisputed statewide indigent

defense crisis this Court has repeatedly acknowledged. The Petition should be denied.

### A. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Decisions of this Court.

### 1. The Opinion Is Consistent with City of Seattle and Seattle School District.

The Opinion principally relies on *City of Seattle* and *Seattle School District*. In *City of Seattle*, this Court recognized a local government can fall within the zone of interests of a constitutional provision—and so have standing—even if it "does not itself have rights . . . ." 103 Wn.2d at 668. The Court looked to *Seattle School District*, which "found standing for the [District] to challenge unconstitutional action by the Legislature which placed financial constraints on the District's ability to meet the State's constitutional obligation to fund public education." *Id.* at 669 (citing *Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 493–94).

Like the City of Seattle's interest in the functioning of the political process, the Counties have a direct interest in the

"functioning of the criminal justice system through the adequate provision of indigent defense counsel," including the constitutionality and fairness of a state scheme requiring them to fulfill the State's "obligatory" constitutional indigent defense duty. Op. at 16 (cleaned up); see Kanistanaux, 68 Wn.2d at 654; Davison, 196 Wn.2d at 293. And like the Seattle School District, the Counties challenge the State's statutory funding scheme's failure to provide sufficient resources to carry out a delegated State constitutional obligation.

The State's attempt to manufacture conflict is grounded in an overly narrow reading of these cases. Starting with *City of Seattle*, the State suggests this Court's standing determination was grounded solely in representational interests. Pet. at 17–18. But representational standing was an **additional** ground for standing, separate from this Court's determination that the City's direct interests in the "integrity of the political process" established standing. *See* 103 Wn.2d at 668–69.

The State next argues this Court has "narrow[ed]" City of Seattle, but cites only Yakima County (West Valley) Fire Protection District No. 12 v. City of Yakima, 122 Wn.2d 371, 858 P.2d 245 (1993)—which did not involve alleged deficiencies in the State's schemes for delegating a constitutional duty and was instead based on a lack of financial interest in the agreements being challenged and is thus inapposite. Regardless, nothing in Yakima County requires "complete[] overlap[]" or "perfect[] align[ment]" of local governmental interests with "those of the actual rightsholders [sic]." Pet. at 17, 20. City of Seattle makes clear the Court viewed the respective interests there as akin but not identical. 103 Wn.2d at 668–69.7 Accordingly, the State's assertion that "Counties' interests in the criminal legal system are not the same as those of indigent defendants," Pet. at 19, is beside the point (and wrong as well).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It is not clear that *City of Seattle* was decided on public importance grounds as the State claims. *See* 103 Wn.2d at 668–69. Regardless, the State's claim of conflict with the public importance doctrine fails as discussed *infra*, Section IV.A.3.

Relatedly, nothing in *City of Seattle* limits standing to parties "able and better positioned" to bring a claim. Pet. at 18; *see also id.* at 19–20 (suggesting "input of indigent defendants or public defenders" is required). One party's standing does not depend on the identities and interests of others.<sup>8</sup> Regardless, the Counties are critical parties and better situated than indigent defendants to address the system-wide funding issues this suit raises. *See Davison*, 196 Wn.2d at 300. As the Court of Appeals noted: "[I]t would . . . be difficult to imagine a party better suited to challenge the alleged systemic constitutional failures of our statutory scheme for providing indigent defense." Op. at 22 (cleaned up).

The State's cited authorities for the proposition that the "same level of government making decisions about which crimes to prosecute (Counties) should bear the cost of those decisions," Pet. at 19, are inapposite: None involved the adequacy of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The State could have (but did not) move to join indigent defendants or public defenders as necessary parties.

statewide system for fulfilling a constitutional mandate, and all pre-date *Davison*'s recognition of a cause of action challenging the same. *See Thurston Cnty. ex rel. Snaza v. City of Olympia*, 193 Wn.2d 102, 104-05, 440 P.3d 988 (2019) (addressing city-county dispute over liability for inmates' healthcare expenses); *State v. Howard*, 106 Wn.2d 39, 44, 722 P.2d 783 (1985) (State could not itself prosecute an indigent defendant while "shift[ing the defense costs] . . . to the county"); *Kitsap Cnty. v. Moore*, 144 Wn.2d 292, 296-99, 26 P.3d 931 (2001) (statute requiring State to pay appellate indigent defense costs did not extend to appeals to courts of limited jurisdiction).

Finally, recognizing the Counties' standing under *City of Seattle* will **not** open the floodgates to county challenges regarding "any issue touching the criminal legal system." Pet. at 18–19 (cleaned up). This is the rare case where the State has delegated an obligatory constitutional duty to local governments. Finding standing to challenge the State's systemic failure to provide funding to fulfill that duty is well within *City of Seattle*'s

scope. See 103 Wn.2d at 669 (discussing similar standing determination in Seattle School District).

Turning to *Seattle School District*, the State's claims of conflict are similarly groundless. First, the State attempts to distinguish *Seattle School District* because students and parents were co-plaintiffs. But the only in-depth standing analysis in *Seattle School District* related to the District. *See* 90 Wn.2d at 491–94. The State did not brief its challenge to the parent-taxpayers' standing, so this Court did not consider it. *Id.* at 494–95. And the Court separately considered the students' standing in analysis that was distinct and irrelevant to the District's standing there, or the Counties' here. *Id.* at 495.

The State's attempt to distinguish the right at issue in *Seattle School District* from the right to counsel also fails. Pet. at 21-23. There is no substantive difference between the "obligatory" indigent defense duty, *Davison*, 196 Wn.2d at 293, and the "judicially enforceable affirmative duty" to provide education at issue in *Seattle School District*, 90 Wn.2d at 500. In

focusing narrowly on article IX's "paramount duty" language, the State ignores that the right to counsel is made obligatory on the State under the **federal** Constitution—which undeniably is "paramount" to our own Constitution. See U.S. Const. art. VI, cl. 2 ("This Constitution...shall be the supreme Law of the Land ...."); Wash. Const. art I, § 2 (U.S. Constitution "is the supreme law of the land").9 Regardless, this Court in Seattle School District did not rely on or even mention the "paramount" nature of the right to education in holding the District had standing, and nothing in that case holds or implies this Court's "more liberalized view of standing" applies only to claims under article IX. See Seattle Sch. Dist., 90 Wn.2d at 493 (citing cases where "municipal corporation[s] challenge[d], as unconstitutional, . . . legislative act[s]" that had nothing to do with article IX's paramount duty).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This Court has declared the right to counsel is "of **paramount importance** to all persons appearing in our courts . . . ." *City of Seattle v. Ratliff*, 100 Wn.2d 212, 218, 667 P.2d 630 (1983) (emphasis added).

It was this "more liberalized view of standing"—and not the "paramount" nature of the right—that made it "clear the District ha[d] standing to challenge the constitutionality of the school financing system." *Id*. Like the District there, the Counties are "at the very vortex of the entire financing system" for indigent defense, and so have standing to challenge that system. *Id*. at 494.

Finally, the State's assertion that this Court's standing ruling "does not travel outside the education context," Pet. at 23, relies on inapposite cases that did not involve a local governmental challenge to the State's system of delegating an "obligatory" constitutional duty. *See Lakehaven Water & Sewer Dist. v. City of Federal Way*, 195 Wn.2d 742, 769–74, 466 P.3d 213 (2020) (districts lacked standing to challenge city excise tax); *City of Ellensburg v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 709, 715, 826 P.2d 1081 (1992) (State had no obligation to fully fund fire protection services, absent a constitutional mandate).

The Opinion does not conflict with *City of Seattle* or *Seattle School District*.

# 2. The Opinion Is Consistent with This Court's Decisions Involving Constitutional Claims by Political Subdivisions.

The State's claim of conflict arising from recognizing standing on equal protection or due process grounds rests on the assertion that the Counties do not have constitutional rights of their own. Pet. at 7–10. But as this Court has explained, although a local government "does not itself have rights under . . . the state and federal constitutions," it nonetheless "ha[s] a direct interest in the fairness and constitutionality" of the statutes governing its conduct. *City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d at 668-69; *see supra* Section IV.A.1.

The Counties' allegations—presumed true in this appeal—show the State's scheme requires them to provide public defense services while failing to provide adequate funding, thus constraining their ability to do so in a constitutionally adequate manner. CP 11-20, 33-35. As in *City of* 

Seattle, the Counties have a direct interest in the constitutional integrity of the State's statutory scheme sufficient to confer standing.

None of the cases the State cites involved a local governmental challenge to the State's system of delegating an obligatory constitutional duty as in *Seattle School District*, nor direct constitutional interests as in *City of Seattle. See Lakehaven*, 195 Wn.2d at 770–71 ("municipal corporations do not have personhood like private corporations" and cannot rely on cases addressing constitutional rights of same); *Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 147 Wn.2d 440, 461–63, 54 P.3d 1194 (2002) (for purposes of LUPA petition time limits, state agency was not entitled to specific notice of city's shoreline boundary determination).

Indeed, one of the State's cited cases acknowledged that under *City of Seattle* "municipalities acting on behalf of their residents have standing to raise constitutional issues," but denied fire districts standing where the only interest they asserted was

"the protection of their tax base." *Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist.*No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803–04 (2004). In others, the Court actually reviewed the merits of a public entity's constitutional claim, contrary to the State's contention that this Court "h[eld] due process claims brought by governmental entities categorically fail for lack of standing." Pet. at 8–9; Moses Lake Sch. Dist. No. 161 v. Big Bend Cmty. Coll., 81 Wn.2d 551, 555–63, 503 P.2d 86 (1972); see also Wash. State Ass'n of Cntys.

v. State, 199 Wn.2d 1, 19–20 & n.5, 502 P.3d 825 (2022) (questioning whether counties could acquire vested rights under unfunded mandate statute, but evaluating merits on assumption they could).

The State claims the Opinion "upends direction from this Court" holding the right to counsel is "personally held and cannot be asserted by others." Pet. at 10. But the Counties are not asserting individual ineffective assistance of counsel claims. They allege **systemic** deficiencies directly affecting their ability to fulfill the State's delegated indigent defense obligation—

exactly the claim *Davison* recognized. 196 Wn.2d at 300; CP 30-33. None of the State's cited cases involve systemic claims. *See* Pet. at 10–11.

As the State acknowledges, at least one out-of-state case held a county had standing to challenge a state indigent defense system. *See State v. Quitman Cnty.*, 807 So. 2d 401, 410 (Miss. 2001). That the Missouri Supreme Court ultimately rejected the county's claims on the merits, *see Quitman Cnty. v. State*, 910 So. 2d 1032 (2005), is irrelevant to the Counties' standing here. Whether the Counties can prove their allegations on the merits will be determined on remand.

# 3. The Opinion Is Consistent with This Court's Decisions on Public Importance Standing.

The State does not identify any conflict with the Court of Appeals' determination that public importance standing is appropriate. Again, none of the State's cited cases involved an acknowledged statewide "crisis" in the delivery of a constitutional right or a challenge to the State's system of delegating an "obligatory" constitutional duty. *See* Pet. at 12-13.

And the State' suggestion that public interest standing is limited to cases "necessary" to ensure the issues raised did not escape review, Pet. at 13, is inaccurate. This Court has repeatedly found public importance standing without considering whether the matter would necessarily escape review. See, e.g., City of Snoqualmie v. King Cnty. Exec. Dow Constantine, 187 Wn.2d 289, 297, 386 P.3d 279 (2016); Wash. Nat. Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cnty., 77 Wn.2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969).

Regardless, the critical issue of state funding has escaped review despite the Court's invitation to the defendants and counsel in *Davison*. As the Court of Appeals noted, multiple studies have found for decades the indigent defense system is failing and more state money is the answer, Op. at 7 & n.3, yet the State has refused to act. This Court's liberal standing precedent supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion that public interest standing is warranted.

# B. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The State's attempt to contrive a conflict with decisions of the Court of Appeals similarly misstates the cited cases and fails to recognize the systemic nature of the Counties' claim.

First, Ralston v. State did not address local government standing at all, but held that "private litigants" could not compel the legislature to "better fund the courts," because "[t]he courts' inherent power to compel their own funding is appropriately exercised rarely and only by the courts themselves." 25 Wn. App. 2d 31, 42, 522 P.3d 95 (2022). The State's purported conflict rests on *Ralston*'s holding that two constitutional provisions not at issue here—article I, sections 10 and 21—"can[not] permit private litigants to compel funding" because they "do not impose on the legislature a duty to act enforceable by private litigants." *Id.* at 45. But as this Court recognized in *Davison*, the right to counsel is distinct: it imposes an "obligatory," enforceable duty and permits the very "claim[] premised on alleged systemic,

structural deficiencies" that the Counties bring here. 196 Wn.2d at 293, 303.

Second, *King County v. Washington State Board of Tax Appeals* neither conflicts with the Opinion, nor supports the State's narrow reading of *Seattle School District*. 28 Wn. App. 230, 236, 622 P.2d 898 (1981). That case bore only "slight" resemblance to *Seattle School District* because (1) "[u]nlike the constitutional questions at issue" there, the issues at hand "were ones of statutory interpretation," and (2) "[t]he appellants [were] unable to demonstrate anything more than the loss of a relatively small amount of tax revenue." *Id*.

Third, Stevens County v. Stevens County Sheriff's Office addressed the unusual—and inapposite—situation where a county sued its own sheriff's department in an attempt to invalidate a state law imposing mental health firearm restrictions.

20 Wn. App. 2d 34, 37–38, 499 P.3d 917 (2021). Emphasizing that the plaintiff county had provided no evidence of injury, the Court of Appeals concluded the county lacked standing because

its "interest in this issue is not direct and substantial." *Id.* at 47. Here, in contrast, the Counties "stand at the very vortex of the entire financing system" they claim is inadequate. *Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 90 Wn.2d at 494; Op. at 20–21.

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